Part 2A of Form ADV: Firm Brochure

ACCESS FINANCIAL SERVICES, INC.

1650 West 82nd Street, Suite 850 Minneapolis, MN 55431-1460 Firm Telephone: (952) 885-2736 Email: <u>Brant@AccessAFS.com</u>

February 18, 2025

This brochure provides information about the qualifications and business practices of Access Financial Services, Inc. ("AFS"). If you have any questions about the contents of this brochure, please contact us at (952) 885-2732 or Brant@AccessAFS.com. The information in this brochure has not been approved or verified by the United States Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") or by any state securities authority. Registration as an investment adviser does not imply a certain level of skill or training.

Additional information about AFS is also available on the SEC's website at <u>www.adviserinfo.sec.gov</u>. You can search this site by a unique identifying number, known as a CRD number. Our firm's CRD number is 115361.

Item 2. Material Changes

This update is in accordance with the required annual update for Investment Advisers. Since the last update on September 30, 2024, the following has been updated:

• Item 4 client assets under management has been updated.

This Firm Brochure being delivered is the complete brochure for the Firm.

Item 3. Table of Contents

Contents

Item 1. Cover Page	1
Item 2. Material Changes	2
Item 3. Table of Contents	3
Item 4. Advisory Business	4
Item 5. Fees and Compensation	10
Item 6. Performance-Based Fees and Side-By-Side Management	14
Item 7. Types of Clients	14
Item 8. Methods of Analysis, Investment Strategies and Risk of Loss	14
Item 9. Disciplinary Information	17
Item 10. Other Financial Industry Activities and Affiliations	17
Item 11. Code of Ethics, Personal Trading, and Participation in Client Transactions	17
Item 12. Brokerage Practices	19
Item 13. Review of Accounts	23
Item 14. Client Referrals and Other Compensation	23
Item 15. Custody	24
Item 16. Investment Discretion	24
Item 17. Voting Client Securities	24
Item 18. Financial Information	25

Item 4. Advisory Business

Access Financial Services, Inc. ("AFS") is a SEC-registered investment adviser with its principal place of business located in Minneapolis, Minnesota. AFS began conducting business as a registered investment adviser in 1992.

Listed below are the firm's principal shareholders (i.e., those individuals and/or entities controlling 25% or more of this company):

- Stephen E. Kairies, Founder
- Brant T. Kairies, President, Chief Investment Officer and Chief Compliance Officer

AFS offers Individual Portfolio Management, ERISA Plan Services, Financial Planning and Financial Consulting services to its advisory clients. Please see the disclosure below in this Item for additional information regarding these services.

AFS has the following assets under management:

Discretionary	Non-discretionary	Date Calculated:
Amounts:	Amounts:	
\$421,585,223	\$0	12/31/2024

INDIVIDUAL PORTFOLIO MANAGEMENT

Our firm offers portfolio management services to its advisory clients. We will provide continuous advice to a client regarding the investment of client funds based on the client's individual needs. Through personal discussions with our clients, we develop a client's individual investment strategy and create and manage a portfolio based on that strategy. During our data-gathering process, we identify the client's individual objectives, time horizon, risk tolerance, and liquidity needs. We may also review and discuss a client's prior investment history, as well as family composition and other background information.

We currently offer our portfolio management services on a discretionary and nondiscretionary basis. Account management is guided by the client's stated objectives (e.g., growth, income or a balance between growth and income), as well as tax considerations. Clients may impose reasonable restrictions on investing in certain securities, types of securities, or industry sectors.

Our investment recommendations are not limited to any specific product or service offered by a broker dealer or insurance company. Our client portfolios may include: individual stocks, fixed-income securities, exchange-traded funds ("ETFs"), exchange-traded notes ("ETNs"), open-end mutual funds ("mutual funds"), and closed-end funds ("CEFs"). Client portfolios with assets of less than \$500,000 will normally be primarily comprised of ETFs and mutual funds.

ASSETS HELD AWAY

Our firm offers a discretionary asset management service to individuals on their employer sponsored qualified plans. We will work with individuals on determining their individual investment goals, time horizons, objectives, and risk tolerance. Investment strategies, investment selection, and asset allocation are based on the above factors along with the investment vehicles offered by the plan. The accounts will be monitored on a periodic basis.

FINANCIAL PLANNING

We provide financial planning services. Financial planning is a comprehensive evaluation of a client's current and expected future financial state by using currently known variables to predict future cash flows, asset values and withdrawal plans. Through the financial planning process, all questions, information and analysis are considered as they impact and are impacted by the financial and life situation of the client. Clients receiving this service receive a written report that summarizes the client's current financial condition and strategies developed with the objective of maximizing wealth accumulation and benefits.

In general, the financial plan will address any or all of the following areas:

- PERSONAL: We review family records, budgeting, personal liability, estate information and financial goals.
- TAX & CASH FLOW: We analyze the client's income tax, spending and planning for past, current and future years, and illustrate the impact of various investments on the client's current income tax and future tax liability.
- INVESTMENTS: We analyze investment alternatives and their effect on the client's portfolio.
- INSURANCE: We review existing policies to ensure proper coverage for life, health, disability, long-term care, liability, home and automobile.
- RETIREMENT: We analyze current strategies and investment plans to help the client achieve his, her or their retirement goals.
- DEATH & DISABILITY: We review the client's cash needs at death, including the income needs of surviving dependents, estate liquidity needs, and sufficiency of disability income.
- ESTATE: We assist the client in assessing and developing long-term estate planning strategies, including the appropriateness of trusts, wills, powers of attorney, beneficiary designations, gifts, and asset protection plans.

We gather relevant information through in-depth personal interviews and materials provided by the client. Information gathered typically includes a client's current financial status, tax status, future goals, return objectives and attitudes towards risk. We review documents supplied by the client and prepare a written report. Should the client choose to implement the recommendations contained in the plan, we suggest the client work closely

with his/her attorney, accountant, and other advisors. Implementation of financial plan recommendations is entirely at the client's discretion.

Typically, the financial plan is presented to the client within six months of the initial meeting, provided that all information needed to prepare the financial plan has been provided by the client.

Financial Planning recommendations are not limited to any specific product or service offered by a broker dealer or insurance company. The financial planning services provided to Client by AFS may encompass a wide variety of issues and topics. However, there may be instances where matters are beyond the scope of AFS's area of expertise. AFS reserves the right to decline to provide advice to Client about issues and topics outside its area of expertise. At Client's request, AFS may provide recommendations to Client as to other sources of professional advice to address such matters.

FINANCIAL CONSULTING

Clients can also receive investment and other financial advice on a more selective basis. This may include advice on an isolated area, or areas, of concern such as estate planning, retirement planning, and other specific areas of interest. We also provide specific consultation and administrative services regarding investment and financial concerns of the client, such as the review of a client's existing investment portfolio or the review of client assets managed by other investment professionals.

Consulting recommendations are not limited to any specific product or service offered by a broker dealer or insurance company.

ERISA PLAN SERVICES

AFS provides service to qualified and non-qualified retirement plans including 401(k) plans, 403(b) plans, pension and profit sharing plans, cash balance plans, and deferred compensation plans. AFS may act as either a 3(21) or 3(38) adviser:

<u>Limited Scope ERISA 3(21) Fiduciary.</u> AFS acts as a limited scope ERISA 3(21) fiduciary that can advise, help and assist plan sponsors with their investment decisions on a non-discretionary basis. As an investment adviser AFS has a fiduciary duty to act in the best interest of the client. The plan sponsor is ultimately responsible for the decisions made in their plan, though using AFS can help the plan sponsor delegate liability by following a diligent process.

1. Fiduciary Services are:

Provide non-discretionary investment advice to the Client about asset classes and investment alternatives available to the Plan in accordance with the Plan's investment policies and objectives. Client will make the final decision regarding the selection, retention, removal and addition of investment options.

- Assist the Client in the development of an investment policy statement ("IPS"). The IPS establishes the investment policies and objectives for the Plan. Client shall have the ultimate responsibility and authority to establish such policies and objectives and to adopt and amend the IPS.
- ➤ Provide non-discretionary investment advice to the Plan Sponsor with respect to the selection of a qualified default investment alternative for participants who are automatically enrolled in the Plan or who have otherwise failed to make investment elections. The Client retains the sole responsibility to provide all notices to the Plan participants required under ERISA Section 404(c) (5) and 404(a)-5.
- Assist in monitoring investment options by preparing periodic investment reports that document investment performance, consistency of fund management and conformance to the guidelines set forth in the IPS and make recommendations to maintain, remove or replace investment options.
- 2. Meet with Client on a periodic basis to discuss the reports and the investment recommendations Non-fiduciary Services are:
 - Assist in the education of Plan participants about general investment information and the investment alternatives available to them under the Plan. Client understands AFS's assistance in education of the Plan participants shall be consistent with and within the scope of the Department of Labor's definition of investment education (Department of Labor Interpretive Bulletin 96-1). As such, AFS is not providing fiduciary advice as defined by ERISA 3(21)(A)(ii) to the Plan participants. AFS will not provide investment advice concerning the prudence of any investment option or combination of investment options for a particular participant or beneficiary under the Plan.
 - ➤ Assist in the group enrollment meetings designed to increase retirement plan participation among the employees and investment and financial understanding by the employees.

AFS may provide these services or, alternatively, may arrange for the Plan's other providers to offer these services, as agreed upon between AFS and Client.

- 3. AFS has no responsibility to provide services related to the following types of assets ("Excluded Assets"):
 - a. Employer securities;
 - b. Real estate (except for real estate funds or publicly traded real estate investment trusts);
 - c. Stock brokerage accounts or mutual fund windows;
 - d. Participant loans;

- e. Non-publicly traded partnership interests;
- f. Other non-publicly traded securities or property (other than collective trusts and similar vehicles); or
- g. Other hard-to-value or illiquid securities or property.

Excluded Assets will **not** be included in calculation of Fees paid to AFS under this Agreement.

Specific services will be outlined in detail to each plan in the 408(b)2 disclosure.

<u>3(38) Investment Manager.</u> AFS can also act as an ERISA 3(38) Investment Manager in which it has discretionary management and control of a given retirement plan's assets. AFS would then become solely responsible and liable for the selection, monitoring and replacement of the plan's investment options.

1. Fiduciary Services are:

- AFS has discretionary authority and will make the final decision regarding the initial selection, retention, removal and addition of investment options in accordance with the Plan's investment policies and objectives.
- Assist the Client with the selection of a broad range of investment options consistent with ERISA Section 404(c) and the regulations thereunder.
- Assist the Client in the development of an investment policy statement ("IPS"). The IPS establishes the investment policies and objectives for the Plan.
- ➤ Provide discretionary investment advice to the Client with respect to the selection of a qualified default investment alternative for participants who are automatically enrolled in the Plan or who have otherwise failed to make investment elections. The Client retains the sole responsibility to provide all notices to the Plan participants required under ERISA Section 404(c) (5).

2. Non-fiduciary Services are:

Assist in the education of Plan participants about general investment information and the investment alternatives available to them under the Plan. Client understands AFS's assistance in education of the Plan participants shall be consistent with and within the scope of the Department of Labor's definition of investment education (Department of Labor Interpretive Bulletin 96-1). As such, AFS is not providing fiduciary advice as defined by ERISA to the Plan participants. AFS will not provide investment advice concerning the prudence of any investment option or combination of investment options for a particular participant or beneficiary under the Plan.

- ➤ Assist in the group enrollment meetings designed to increase retirement plan participation among the employees and investment and financial understanding by the employees.
- Assist in monitoring investment options by preparing periodic investment reports that document investment performance, consistency of fund management and conformance to the guidelines set forth in the IPS and make recommendations to maintain, remove or replace investment options.
- ➤ Meet with Client on a periodic basis to discuss the reports and the investment recommendations.

AFS may provide these services or, alternatively, may arrange for the Plan's other providers to offer these services, as agreed upon between AFS and Client.

- 3. AFS has no responsibility to provide services related to the following types of assets ("Excluded Assets"):
 - a. Employer securities;
 - b. Real estate (except for real estate funds or publicly traded real estate investment trusts);
 - c. Stock brokerage accounts or mutual fund windows;
 - d. Participant loans;
 - e. Non-publicly traded partnership interests;
 - f. Other non-publicly traded securities or property (other than collective trusts and similar vehicles); or
 - g. Other hard-to-value or illiquid securities or property.

Excluded Assets will **not** be included in calculation of Fees paid to AFS under this Agreement.

When AFS provides investment advice to clients regarding a retirement plan account or individual retirement account, AFS is a fiduciary within the meaning of Title I ERISA and/ or the Internal Revenue Code, as applicable, which are laws governing retirement accounts. The way AFS makes money creates some conflicts with client interests, so AFS operates under a special rule that requires it to act in its clients' best interest and not put AFS's interest ahead of its clients' interests.

Under this special rule's provisions, AFS must:

• Meet a professional standard of care when making investment recommendations (give prudent advice);

- Never put AFS's financial interests ahead of its clients' interests when making recommendations (give loyal advice);
- Avoid misleading statements about conflicts of interest, fees and investments;
- Follow policies and procedures designed to ensure that AFS gives advice in its clients' best interest;
- Charge no more than is reasonable for AFS's services; and
- Give clients basic information about conflicts of interest

Item 5. Fees and Compensation

FEES FOR INDIVIDUAL PORTFOLIO MANAGEMENT

The annual fee for our individual portfolio management service is charged as a percentage of assets under management with AFS according to the following schedules:

Balanced and Equity Portfolios		
Portfolio Value	Annual Fee	Quarterly Fee
First \$500,000	1.00%	0.2500%
Next \$500,000	0.85%	0.2125%
Next \$1,000,000	0.70%	0.1750%
Next \$1,000,000	0.60%	0.1500%
Next \$2,000,000	0.40%	0.1000%
Over \$5,000,000	0.20%	0.0500%

Therefore, if a client's balanced or equity portfolio management account is valued at \$4,000,000, the annual fee would be calculated as follows: $(\$500,000 \times 1.00\%) + (\$500,000 \times 0.85\%) + (\$1,000,000 \times 0.70\%) + (\$1,000,000 \times 0.60\%) + (\$1,000,000 \times 0.40\%)$.

Fixed Income Portfolios		
Portfolio Value	Annual Fee	Quarterly Fee
First \$500,000	0.500%	0.12500%
Next \$500,000	0.425%	0.10625%
Next \$1,000,000	0.350%	0.08750%
Next \$1,000,000	0.300%	0.07500%
Next \$2,000,000	0.200%	0.05000%
Over \$5,000,000	0.100%	0.02500%

Therefore, if a client's fixed income portfolio management account is valued at \$1,000,000, the annual fee would be calculated as follows: $(\$500,000 \times 0.50\%) + (\$500,000 \times 0.425\%)$.

Our annual fee is assessed quarterly, in arrears. This means that clients are charged onequarter of the annual fee at the end of each three-month period. The management fee is based upon the value (market value or fair market value in the absence of market value) of the client's account at the end of the quarter. Clients will be invoiced or have their fees debited from their account in accordance with client authorization. There is no minimum account value for this service; however, AFS has a minimum annual fee requirement of \$5,000 (\$1,250 per quarter) per client household not to exceed 3% of the client's household managed portfolio value. AFS reserves the right to waive this minimum fee when financial planning services are paid for separately. The management fee is not based on capital appreciation or performance of any type.

A Fixed Income Portfolio, as used above in this Item, is a portfolio with 90% or more of its value comprised of fixed income securities or fixed-income-related securities, such as individual bonds, bond mutual funds and ETFs, CEFs, ETNs and/or cash equivalents.

FEES FOR ASSETS HELD AWAY

Fees for these services will be based on a percentage of assets under management. The annual fee will be negotiable. Fees will be paid in arrears on a calendar quarter basis. Client will be provided an invoice at the end of the quarter, payable within twenty (20) days of receipt. Clients may terminate their account within five (5) business days with no obligation. For termination after five (5) business days, AFS will be entitled to a pro-rata fee based on the number of days account was managed.

FEES FOR FINANCIAL PLANNING AND FINANCIAL CONSULTING

Financial Planning:

AFS charges an initial fee for analysis and financial projections of \$1,000 due upon signing the Financial Planning and Consulting Agreement. Clients may enter into a fixed fee financial planning arrangement, which fee is negotiable based on the scope of the project.

Fees will be billed on an hourly basis at a rate of \$250-\$400 per hour, and Clients are invoiced monthly.

Financial Consulting:

Financial Consulting fees will be determined based on the nature of the services being provided, the complexity of each client's circumstances, and the experience and skill level of the employee(s) of AFS providing the service. All fees are agreed upon prior to entering into a contract with the client.

The fees for such services are charged on an hourly basis, typically ranging from \$250 to \$400 per hour, and are negotiated directly with the client. We may request a retainer upon completion of our initial fact-finding session with the client; however, advance payment will never exceed \$1,200 for work that will not be completed within six months. The balance is due upon completion of the service.

We reserve the discretion to reduce or waive a client's financial planning or financial consulting fee if the client chooses to engage us for our portfolio management services.

There is no minimum fee for these services.

FEES FOR ERISA PLAN SERVICES

The annual fees are based on the market value of the Included Assets and will not exceed 1%. Fees are charged quarterly in arrears based on the assets as calculated by AFS of the Included Assets (without adjustments for anticipated withdrawals by Plan participants or other anticipated or scheduled transfers or distribution of assets) on the last business day of the previous quarter. If the services to be provided start any time other than the first day of a quarter, the fee will be prorated based on the number of days remaining in the quarter. If this Agreement is terminated prior to the end of the fee period, AFS shall be entitled to a prorated fee based on the number of days during the fee period services were provided.

The compensation of AFS for the services under this Agreement is described in Schedule A of the ERISA Plan Agreement. The Plan is obligated to pay the fees, however the Plan Sponsor may elect to pay the fees. AFS does not reasonably expect to receive any additional compensation, directly or indirectly, for its services under this Agreement. If additional compensation is received, AFS will disclose this compensation, the services rendered, and the payer of compensation. AFS will offset the compensation against the fees agreed upon under this Agreement.

GENERAL FEE INFORMATION

Advisory Fees in General: Clients should note that similar advisory services may (or may not) be available from other registered (or unregistered) investment advisers for similar or lower fees.

Negotiability of Fees: In certain circumstances, fees may be negotiable. Further, we may waive or discount fees for family members and friends of the owners and employees of our firm. These fee waivers or discounts are not generally available to all advisory clients of AFS.

Grandfathering of Fees and Fee Billing Arrangements: Our firm's fees and billing arrangements are impacted by AFS's advisory fees in effect at the time the client entered into the advisory relationship. Therefore, our firm's fees and billing arrangements will differ among clients.

Termination of the Advisory Relationship: A client agreement may be canceled at any time, by either party, for any reason upon receipt of 30 days written notice. As disclosed above, certain fees may be paid in advance of services provided. Upon termination of any account, any prepaid, unearned fees will be promptly refunded and any unpaid fees will be due and payable. In calculating a client's reimbursement of fees, we will prorate the reimbursement according to the number of days remaining in the billing period.

Fund Fees: All fees paid to AFS for investment advisory services are separate and distinct from the fees and expenses charged by ETFs, ETNs, CEFs, mutual funds, variable life subaccounts, and variable annuity sub-accounts (each a "Fund" and, collectively, the "Funds") to their shareholders. These fees and expenses are described in each Fund's prospectus. These fees will generally include a management fee, other fund expenses, and a possible

distribution fee. If a Fund also imposes sales charges, a client may pay an initial or deferred sales charge.

A client could invest in a Fund directly, without our services. In that case, the client would not receive the services provided by our firm which are designed, among other things, to assist the client in determining which Fund or Funds are most appropriate to each client's financial condition and objectives. Accordingly, the client should review both the fees charged by the Funds and our fees to fully understand the total amount of fees to be paid by the client and to thereby evaluate the advisory services being provided.

Additional Fees and Expenses: In addition to our advisory fees, clients are also responsible for the fees and expenses charged by custodians and imposed by broker dealers, including, but not limited to, any transaction charges, fees for duplicate statements and transaction confirmations, and fees for electronic data feeds and reports. Please refer to Item 12 of this Brochure for additional information about our brokerage practices.

Limited Prepayment of Fees: Under no circumstances do we require or solicit payment of fees in excess of \$1,200 more than six months in advance of services rendered.

Compensation for the Sale of Securities or other Investment Products: Certain management persons and other employees of AFS are separately licensed as insurance agents with one or more insurance companies. As such, they, in their separate capacities as insurance agents, will be able to sell insurance and insurance-related investment products to clients for which they will receive separate and additional compensation. AFS clients are not under any obligation to engage these individuals when considering implementation of investment recommendations. The implementation of any or all recommendations is solely at the discretion of the client.

Clients should be aware that the receipt of additional compensation by AFS' management persons or employees creates a conflict of interest and gives these individuals an incentive to recommend insurance products based on the compensation received, rather than on a client's needs. AFS endeavors at all times to put the interest of its clients first as part of its fiduciary duty as a registered investment adviser and takes the following steps to address this conflict:

- AFS prohibits its management persons and employees from earning commissions for transactions placed in its portfolio management client accounts;
- AFS discloses to clients the existence of all material conflicts of interest, including the potential for its employees to earn compensation from advisory clients in addition to AFS' advisory fees;
- AFS discloses to clients that they are not obligated to purchase recommended investment products from AFS' employees;
- AFS collects, maintains and documents accurate, complete and relevant client background information, including the client's financial goals, objectives and risk tolerance;

- AFS' management conducts regular reviews of each client account to verify that all recommendations made to a client are suitable to the client's needs and circumstances;
- AFS requires that its employees seek prior approval of any outside employment activity so that AFS may ensure that any conflicts of interests in such activities are properly addressed;
- AFS periodically monitors these outside employment activities to verify that any conflicts of interest continue to be properly addressed by AFS; and
- AFS educates its employees regarding the responsibilities of a fiduciary, including the need for having a reasonable and independent basis for the investment advice provided to clients.

Item 6. Performance-Based Fees and Side-By-Side Management

We do not charge performance-based fees (i.e., fees based on a share of capital gains on or capital appreciation of the assets of a client).

Item 7. Types of Clients

AFS provides its advisory services, where appropriate, to individuals, high net worth individuals, trusts, estates, charitable organizations, and retirement plans.

AFS has no minimum asset level for opening and maintaining an account.

Item 8. Methods of Analysis, Investment Strategies and Risk of Loss METHODS OF ANALYSIS

We use the following methods of analysis in formulating our investment advice and managing client assets:

Fundamental Analysis: We attempt to gauge the intrinsic value of securities, industries, sectors, regions and asset classes by looking at economic and financial factors (including traditional measures of valuation, the overall economy, industry conditions, and financial conditions) to determine if a security is underpriced (indicating it may be a good time to buy) or overpriced (indicating it may be time to sell).

Fundamental analysis does not attempt to anticipate general market movements. This presents a potential risk, as the price of a security can move up or down along with the overall market regardless of the economic and financial factors considered in evaluating a security.

Technical Analysis: Technical analysis involves the analysis of past market movements and the application of that analysis to the present in an attempt to recognize recurring patterns of investor behavior and to predict future price movement.

Charting and cyclical analysis are types of technical analysis that we use. Charting involves the review of charts of market and security activity in an attempt to identify when the market is moving up or down and to predict how long the trend may last and when that trend might reverse. Cyclical analysis involves measuring the movements of a particular security relative to the overall market in an attempt to predict the price movement of the security.

Technical analysis does not consider the underlying financial conditions of a security. This presents a risk in that a poorly-managed or financially unsound investment may underperform regardless of market movement.

Fund Analysis: We look at the experience and track record of the manager of ETF, CEF, mutual fund, variable life sub-account, or variable annuity sub-accounts (each a "Fund" and, collectively, the "Funds") in an attempt to determine if that manager has demonstrated an ability to invest over a period of time and in different economic conditions. We also look at the underlying assets in a Fund in an attempt to determine if there is significant overlap in the underlying investments held in another fund(s) in the client's portfolio. We also monitor the Funds in an attempt to determine if they are continuing to follow their stated investment strategy.

A risk of Fund analysis is that, as in all securities investments, past performance does not guarantee future results. A manager who has been successful may not be able to replicate that success in the future. In addition, as we do not control the underlying investments in a Fund, managers of different Funds held by the client may purchase the same security, increasing the risk to the client if that security were to fall in value. There is also a risk that a manager may deviate from the stated investment mandate or strategy of the Fund, which could make the holding(s) less suitable for the client's portfolio.

Risks for All Forms of Analysis: Our securities analysis methods rely on the assumption that the companies whose securities we purchase and sell, the rating agencies that review these securities, and other publicly available sources of information about these securities, are providing accurate data. While we are alert to indications that data may be incorrect, there is always a risk that our analysis may be compromised by inaccurate or misleading information. Additionally, the data we review is often subjective in nature and open to interpretation. Even if our data and interpretation of the data is correct, there may be factors that determine the value of securities other than those considered in our fundamental and technical analysis.

INVESTMENT STRATEGIES

We use the following strategies in managing client accounts, provided that such strategies are appropriate to the needs of the client and consistent with the client's investment objectives, risk tolerance, and time horizons, among other considerations:

Long-Term Purchases: We purchase securities with the intent of holding them in the client's account for a year or longer. Typically we employ this strategy when:

- we believe the securities to be currently undervalued, and/or
- we want exposure to a particular asset class over time, regardless of the current projection for this class.

A risk in a long-term purchase strategy is that by holding the security for this length of time, we may not take advantage of short-term gains that could be profitable to a client. Moreover, if our predictions are incorrect, a security may decline in value before we make the decision to sell. Further, using a long-term purchase strategy generally assumes the financial markets will generate a positive total return (capital appreciation plus income) over the long-term which may not be the case. There is also the risk that the segment of the market that we are invested in or perhaps just a particular investment will decline in value over time even if the overall financial markets advance. Purchasing investments on a long-term basis may create an opportunity cost by "locking-up" assets that may be better utilized in the short-term in other investments.

Short-Term Purchases: When utilizing this strategy, we purchase securities with the idea of selling them within a relatively short timeframe (typically a year or less). We do this in an attempt to take advantage of conditions that we believe will soon result in a price swing in the securities we purchase. Using a short-term purchase strategy generally assumes that we can predict how financial markets and/or individual securities will perform in the short-term which may be very difficult. There are many factors that can affect financial market performance in the short-term (such as short-term interest rate changes, earnings data, etc.) but may have a smaller impact over longer periods of times. Therefore, a short-term purchase strategy poses risks should the anticipated price change not materialize; we are then left with the option of having a long-term investment in a security that was intended to be a short-term purchase, or potentially taking a loss on the investment.

In addition, this strategy involves more frequent trading than does a longer-term strategy and will result in increased brokerage and other transaction-related costs, as well as less favorable tax treatment of short-term capital gains.

Asset Allocation: In implementing our clients' investment strategy, we begin by attempting to identify an appropriate ratio of equities, fixed-income, commodities, currencies and cash (i.e. "asset allocation") suitable to the client's investment goals and risk tolerance. In determining this asset allocation, we take a "top-down", global, multi-asset approach to managing portfolios. In doing so, we attempt to gauge several factors including valuation, momentum, sentiment and liquidity. We believe the successful application of this approach is effective in generating strong returns – especially on a risk-adjusted basis.

Our approach to asset allocation places a high priority on controlling the overall exposure to risk assets in relation to macro conditions, valuation and market psychology. This approach to investment management often leads us to investment conclusions that are contrary in nature.

The downside of our approach is during extraordinary events such as investment manias (i.e., Japanese stocks in the late-1980s, the NASDAQ in the late-1990s, and housing and related securities in the mid- to late-2000s), we tend to underperform. However, we believe the mark of a disciplined portfolio manager is to lean into events such as these even as the

pressures of relative performance cause investors to abandon their discipline. Another risk of an asset allocation investment strategy is that a client may not participate in sharp increases in a particular security, industry or market sector. A further risk is that the ratio of securities within a portfolio will change over time due to financial market movements and, if not corrected, will no longer be appropriate for the client's goals.

Rebalancing: Our view is that portfolio management – which includes rebalancing – is a continuous process, not a scheduled event. Based on a portfolio's "target" allocation or its long-term strategic investment strategy, we review the portfolio and make adjustments as conditions evolve rather than sticking with – and rebalancing to – fixed allocations without considering the economic and financial environment.

In practice, the process is subjective and complex. Many attempts have been made to create models that rely on indicators to calculate an optimum asset allocation. However, we believe this sort of quantitative approach eventually breaks down because the assumptions that underpin the model cannot fit every set of economic and market condition. We use various indicators to make informed decisions, but at its core, we believe asset allocation is a subjective process that involves analysis, intuition, common sense and discipline.

Margin: We do not use margin transactions as an investment strategy. However, we may recommend that a client establish a margin account with the client's broker in order to facilitate more efficient trading.

RISK OF LOSS

Listed above are some of the primary risks associated with the way we manage our clients' portfolios. Please do not hesitate to contact us to discuss these risks and others in more detail. Securities investments are not guaranteed and you may lose money on your investments. Investing in securities involves risk of loss that clients should be prepared to bear. We ask that our clients work with us to help us understand your tolerance for risk.

Item 9. Disciplinary Information

We are required to disclose any legal or disciplinary events that are material to a client's or prospective client's evaluation of our advisory business or the integrity of our management. Our firm and our management personnel have no reportable disciplinary events to disclose.

Item 10. Other Financial Industry Activities and Affiliations

The Management persons and other employees of AFS may be insurance agents for various insurance companies. Please see item 5 for information regarding these relationships, the applicable conflicts of interest, and how AFS manages these conflicts.

Item 11. Code of Ethics, Personal Trading, and Participation in Client Transactions

CODE OF ETHICS

Our firm has adopted a Code of Ethics which sets forth high ethical standards of business conduct that we require of our employees, including compliance with applicable federal securities laws. AFS and our personnel owe a duty of loyalty, fairness and good faith to our clients, and have an obligation to adhere not only to the specific provisions of the Code of Ethics, but to the general principles that guide the Code.

Our Code of Ethics includes the firm's policy prohibiting the use of material non-public information. While we do not believe that we have any particular access to non-public information, all employees are reminded that such information may not be used in a personal or professional capacity.

Our Code of Ethics requires that anyone associated with this advisory practice with access to advisory recommendations, client holdings or other specified information ("access persons") provide annual securities holdings reports and quarterly transaction reports of all reportable transactions to the firm's designated officer. These reports are made available to an appropriate regulatory agency upon request and will be reviewed on a regular basis by the Chief Compliance Officer of AFS, or his designee, to supervise compliance with the firm's Code of Ethics.

Our Code also contains oversight, enforcement and recordkeeping provisions. A copy of our Code of Ethics is available to our advisory clients and prospective clients. You may request a copy by email to Brant@AccessAFS.com, or by telephone at (952) 885-2732.

SUMMARY OF PERSONAL TRADING POLICY

Our firm, management persons and other employees may buy or sell securities for their personal accounts that are identical to or different from those recommended to our clients. In addition, the firm and these individuals may have an interest or position in a security which may also be recommended to a client. As these situations represent actual or potential conflicts of interest with our clients, we have taken the following steps to assure that: (i) the personal securities transactions of our firm and employees will not interfere with making and implementing decisions in the best interest of our advisory clients; (ii) our firm complies with its regulatory obligations; and (iii) we provide our clients with full and fair disclosure of such conflicts of interest.

- 1. We prohibit the firm, its management persons and employees from:
 - a. Putting their own interest above the interest of an advisory client.
 - b. Buying or selling securities for their personal portfolio(s) where their decision is a result of information received as a result of his or her employment unless the information is also available to the investing public.
 - c. Purchasing or selling any security immediately prior to a transaction(s) in the same securities being implemented for an advisory account.
- 2. Our firm requires prior approval for any IPO or private placement investments by an access person of the firm.
- 3. We maintain a list of all reportable securities holdings for our firm and our employees who are access persons. These holdings are reviewed on a regular basis by our firm's

- Chief Compliance Officer, or his designee, to verify compliance with this personal trading policy.
- 4. We have established procedures for the maintenance of all required books and records.
- 5. We require all of our management persons and other employees to act in accordance with all applicable federal and state regulations governing registered investment advisory practices.
- 6. We provide each employee of our firm with a copy of our Code of Ethics on an annual basis.
- 7. We have established policies requiring the reporting of Code of Ethics violations to our Chief Compliance Officer.
- 8. Any individual who violates any of the above restrictions may be subject to termination.

AGGREGATION OF EMPLOYEE TRADES WITH CLIENT TRANSACTIONS

We may aggregate our employee trades with client transactions where possible and when compliant with our duty to seek best execution for our clients. In these instances, participating clients will receive an average share price. Transaction costs will be charged a fixed, per-trade fee or a fee based on the number of shares traded for each client (depending upon the individual client's agreement with the applicable custodian/broker). In the instances where there is a partial fill of a particular batched order, we will allocate all purchases pro-rata, with each account paying the average price. Our employee accounts will not typically be included in the pro-rata allocation.

Please review the disclosures in Item 12 of this Brochure for a more detailed understanding of the firm's trade aggregation policies and procedures.

PRINICPAL TRANSACTIONS

AFS and individuals associated with our firm are prohibited from engaging in principal transactions. A principal transaction is a transaction where AFS or a person associated with AFS, as principal, buys securities from, or sells securities to, an AFS client.

Item 12. Brokerage Practices

INDIVIDUAL PORTFOLIO MANAGEMENT SERVICES

Directed Brokerage: Our firm does not accept the discretionary authority to determine the broker-dealer to be used or the commission rates to be paid by its clients. Clients must direct AFS as to the broker-dealer to be used in managing their accounts.

AFS recommends that clients establish brokerage accounts with the Schwab Advisor Services of Charles Schwab & Co., Inc.¹ ("Schwab"), a FINRA² registered broker-dealer and

¹ For information regarding Schwab, please refer to their website: https://www.schwab.com/.

² FINRA is the largest independent regulator for all securities firms doing business in the United States. For more information, please refer to FINRA's website: http://www.finra.org/.

SIPC³ member, to maintain custody of clients' assets and to effect trades for their accounts. Although we suggest that clients establish accounts at Schwab, it is the client's decision to custody assets with Schwab. AFS is independently owned and operated and not affiliated with Schwab. AFS has evaluated Schwab and believes that it will provide our clients with a blend of execution services, commission costs and professionalism that will assist our firm in meeting our fiduciary obligations to clients.

Schwab provides AFS with access to its institutional trading and custody services, which are typically not available to its retail investors. These services generally are available to independent investment advisers on an unsolicited basis, at no charge to them so long as a total of at least \$10 million of AFS's clients' assets are maintained in accounts at Schwab Advisor Services. These services are not contingent upon our firm committing to Schwab any specific amount of business (assets in custody or trading commissions). Schwab's brokerage services include the execution of securities transactions, custody, research, and access to mutual funds and other investments that are otherwise generally available only to institutional investors or would require a significantly higher minimum initial investment.

For our client accounts maintained in its custody, Schwab generally does not charge separately for custody services but is compensated by account holders through commissions and other transaction-related or asset-based fees for securities trades that are executed through Schwab or that settle into Schwab accounts.

Schwab Institutional also makes available to our firm other products and services that benefit AFS but may not directly benefit our clients' accounts. Many of these products and services may be used to service all or some substantial number of our client accounts, including accounts not maintained at Schwab.

Schwab's products and services that assist us in managing and administering our clients' accounts include software and other technology that:

- provide access to client account data (such as trade confirmations and account statements);
- facilitate trade execution and allocate aggregated trade orders for multiple client accounts;
- provide research, pricing and other market data;
- facilitate payment of our fees from clients' accounts; and
- assist with back-office functions, recordkeeping and client reporting.

Schwab Institutional also offers other services intended to help us manage and further develop our business enterprise. These services may include:

- compliance, legal and business consulting;
- publications and conferences on practice management and business succession; and
- access to employee benefits providers, human capital consultants and insurance providers.

20

³ For information regarding SIPC, please refer to their website: http://www.sipc.org/.

Schwab may make available, arrange and/or pay third-party vendors for the types of services rendered to AFS. Schwab Institutional may discount or waive fees it would otherwise charge for some of these services or pay all or a part of the fees of a third-party providing these services to our firm. Schwab Institutional may also provide other benefits such as educational events or occasional business entertainment of our personnel. In evaluating whether to recommend or require that clients custody their assets at Schwab, we may take into account the availability of some of the foregoing products and services and other arrangements as part of the total mix of factors we consider and not solely on the nature, cost or quality of custody and brokerage services provided by Schwab, which may create a potential conflict of interest.

We reserve the right to decline acceptance of any client account for which the client directs the use of a broker other than Schwab if we believe that this choice would hinder our fiduciary duty to the client and/or our ability to service the account. In directing the use of Schwab (or any other broker), it should be understood that AFS will not have authority to negotiate commissions or to necessarily obtain volume discounts, and best execution may not be achieved. In addition, a disparity in commission charges may exist between the commissions charged to the client and those charged to other clients (who may direct the use of another broker other than Schwab). Clients should note that, while AFS has a reasonable belief that Schwab is able to obtain best execution and competitive prices, our firm will not independently seek best execution price capability through other brokers.

Limited Brokerage Discretion: AFS may, however, request that it be provided written authority to determine the broker dealer to be used for the purchase or sale of certain fixed income securities for the client's account and the costs that will be incurred by the client for these transactions. Any limitations on this discretionary authority shall be included in this written authority statement. Clients may change/amend these limitations as desired. Such amendments shall also be in writing.

When AFS exercises this limited brokerage discretion in order to purchase or sell such securities, AFS will select those broker dealers that will provide quality services at competitive transaction costs. The reasonableness of brokerage costs, commissions and mark ups/mark downs is based on the broker dealer's ability to provide professional services, competitive execution and other services that will assist AFS in providing investment management services to clients. Client trades in these instruments may be blocked with transactions for other advisory clients to achieve better pricing and commission costs.

AFS has no formal or informal soft dollar arrangements with any broker dealer.

SUMMARY OF TRADE AGGREGATION POLICY

AFS will block trades where possible and when advantageous to clients. This blocking of trades permits the trading of aggregate blocks of securities composed of assets from

multiple client accounts. Block trading may allow us to execute equity trades in a timelier, more equitable manner, at an average share price. AFS will typically aggregate trades among clients whose accounts can be traded at a given broker. AFS' block trading policy and procedures are as follows:

- 1. Transactions for any client account may not be aggregated for execution if the practice is prohibited by or inconsistent with the client's advisory agreement with AFS or our firm's order allocation policy.
- 2. The portfolio manager must determine that the purchase or sale of the particular security involved is appropriate for the client and consistent with the client's investment objectives and with any investment guidelines or restrictions applicable to the client's account.
- 3. The portfolio manager must reasonably believe that the order aggregation will enable AFS to seek best execution for each client participating in the aggregated order. This requires a good faith judgment at the time the order is placed for the execution. It does not mean that the determination made in advance of the transaction must always prove to have been correct in the light of a "20-20 hindsight" perspective. Best execution includes the duty to seek the best quality of execution, as well as the best net price.
- 4. Prior to entry of an aggregated order, barring unusual circumstances related to timing and security price, a written list is completed which identifies each client account participating in the order and the proposed allocation of the order, upon completion, to those clients.
- 5. If the order cannot be executed in full at the same price or time, the securities actually purchased or sold by the close of each business day must be allocated pro rata among the participating client accounts in accordance with the initial order ticket or other written statement of allocation. However, adjustments to this pro rata allocation may be made to participating client accounts in accordance with the initial order ticket or other written statement of allocation. Furthermore, adjustments to this pro rata allocation may be made to avoid having odd amounts of shares held in any client account, or to avoid excessive transaction related charges in smaller accounts.
- 6. Generally, each client that participates in the aggregated order must do so at the average price for all separate transactions made to fill the order, and must equitably share in the commissions and transaction costs. Transaction costs may be charged as a fixed, per-trade fee or a fee based on the number of shares traded for each client (depending upon the individual client's agreement with the applicable custodian/broker).
- 7. If the order will be allocated in a manner other than that stated in the initial statement of allocation, a written explanation of the change must be provided to and approved by the Chief Compliance Officer no later than the morning following the execution of the aggregate trade.

- 8. AFS' client account records separately reflect, for each account in which the aggregated transaction occurred, the securities which are held by, and bought and sold for, that account.
- 9. Funds and securities for aggregated orders are clearly identified on AFS' records and to the broker-dealers or other intermediaries handling the transactions, by the appropriate account numbers for each participating client.
- 10. No client or account will be favored over another.

Item 13. Review of Accounts

INDIVIDUAL PORTFOLIO MANAGEMENT

Reviews: While the underlying securities within Individual Portfolio Management accounts are continually monitored, these accounts are reviewed on at least a quarterly basis. Specific reviews will also occur when purchasing new positions or selling positions, and at the client's request. Accounts are reviewed in the context of each client's stated investment objectives and guidelines. More frequent reviews may be triggered by material changes in variables such as the client's individual circumstances, or the market, political or economic environment.

These accounts are reviewed by the investment adviser representative assigned to the account and Brant T. Kairies, President, Chief Investment Officer and Chief Compliance Officer.

Reports: In addition to the written monthly statements and confirmations of transactions that clients receive from their broker-dealer/custodian, we provide quarterly reports summarizing account performance, balances and holdings. These reports also include a description of how a client's advisory fee is calculated.

FINANCIAL PLANNING AND FINANCIAL CONSULTING

Clients receiving these services will receive reviews and reports as contracted for at the inception of the advisory relationship.

Item 14. Client Referrals and Other Compensation

It is our policy not to pay referral fees to affiliated or unaffiliated individuals or firms for referring us potential clients.

As insurance agents, our management persons and other employees are eligible to receive incentive awards (including prizes such as trips or bonuses) for recommending certain types of insurance policies or other investment products. While we endeavor at all times to put the interest of our clients first as part of our fiduciary duty, the possibility of receiving incentive awards creates a conflict of interest, and may affect the judgment of these individuals when making recommendations.

We address these conflicts by reviewing recommendations made to our clients to determine that all recommendations are consistent with the best interests of our clients. Please see the disclosure in Item 5 of this Brochure for additional information about how we manage these conflict of interest.

Item 15. Custody

We previously disclosed in Item 5 (the Fees and Compensation section) of this Brochure that our firm directly debits advisory fees from client accounts. As part of this billing process, the client's custodian is advised of the amount of the fee to be deducted from that client's account. On at least a quarterly basis, the custodian is required to send to the client a statement showing all transactions within the account during the reporting period. Because the custodian does not calculate the amount of the fee to be deducted, it is important for clients to carefully review their custodial statements to verify the accuracy of the calculation, among other things. Clients should contact us directly if they believe that there may be an error on their statement or the calculation of their fees.

In addition to the periodic statements that clients receive directly from their custodians, we also send account reports directly to our clients on a quarterly basis. We urge our clients to carefully compare the information provided on these reports to the custodian's statements to ensure that all account transactions, holdings and values are correct and current.

Item 16. Investment Discretion

Clients may hire us to provide discretionary portfolio management services. Where we have been provided investment discretion, we place trades in a client's account without obtaining specific client permission prior to each trade. Our discretionary authority includes the ability to do the following without contacting the client:

- Determine the security to buy or sell; and/or
- Determine the amount of the security to buy or sell.

Clients give us discretionary authority when they sign a discretionary advisory agreement with our firm, and may limit this authority by giving us written instructions. Clients may also change/amend such limitations by once again providing us with written instructions.

Advisory clients who elect not to grant such discretionary authority to AFS are advised that trades in their accounts will typically be executed subsequent to trades effected in discretionary accounts due to the time involved in obtaining prior client approval. Consequently, these clients may not participate in blocked trades and there may be a difference in the price paid per share of a given security.

Item 17. Voting Client Securities

AFS does not vote client securities. Clients maintain exclusive responsibility for: (i) directing the manner in which proxies solicited by issuers of securities beneficially owned by the client shall be voted, and (ii) making all elections relative to any mergers, acquisitions, tender offers, bankruptcy proceedings or other type events pertaining to the client's investment assets. Therefore, AFS and/or the client shall instruct each custodian of the applicable assets to forward to the client copies of all proxies and shareholder communications relating to the client's investment assets.

Item 18. Financial Information

Under no circumstances do we require or solicit payment of fees in excess of \$1,200 per client more than six months in advance of services rendered. Therefore, we are not required to include a financial statement.

As an advisory firm that maintains discretionary authority for client accounts, we are also required to disclose any financial condition that is reasonably likely to impair our ability to meet our contractual obligations. AFS has no additional financial circumstances to report and has never been the subject of a bankruptcy petition.

Part 2B of Form ADV: Brochure Supplement

Stephen E. Kairies

1650 West 82nd Street, Suite 850 Minneapolis, MN 55431 Telephone: (952) 885-2734

Email: steve@accessfinsvcs.com

ACCESS FINANCIAL SERVICES, INC. 1650 West 82nd Street, Suite 850 Minneapolis, MN 55431 Telephone: (952) 885-2732

February 18, 2025

This brochure supplement provides information about Stephen E. Kairies that supplements the Access Financial Services, Inc. ("AFS") brochure. You should have received a copy of that brochure. Please contact Mr. Kairies if you did not receive AFS' brochure or if you have any questions about the contents of this supplement.

Additional information about Stephen E. Kairies is available on the SEC's website at www.adviserinfo.sec.gov.

Brochure Supplement (Part 2B of Form ADV)

Item 2 Education and Business Standards

Stephen E. Kairies, ChFC®, CLU

Educational Background:

• Year of birth: 1945

• University of Minnesota, Bachelor of Arts Degree in Humanities, 1968

Business Experience:

- Access Financial Services, Inc.
 - Founder; 11/2010 to Present
 - Chief Financial Officer; 11/2010 to 01/2021
 - President; 06/1990 to 11/2010
- Northwestern Mutual Life Insurance Company; Agent; 09/1991 to Present
- FSC Securities Corporation; Registered Representative; 03/1993 to 01/2015
- Northwestern Mutual Investment Services, LLC; Registered Representative; 02/1992 to 12/2014

Professional Designations:

Chartered Financial Consultant (ChFC), granted by The American College, 1983¹

• Chartered Life Underwriter (CLU), granted by The American College, 1976²

¹ A Chartered Financial Consultant[®] (ChFC[®]) is a financial professional who meets the requirements established by The American College. These include completing a specified program of study, and meeting minimum experience requirements and specific ethical standards. In order to obtain the ChFC[®] designation, a number of requirements must be met. An applicant must: (1) take nine college-level courses and pass an exam for each course; (2) have at least three years of qualifying full-time work experience in financial planning or a related field; and (3) pass a professional fitness standards and background check. Once appointed, a ChFC[®] must meet continuing education requirements in order to maintain the certification. The programs of study required of a ChFC[®] include such topics as: Financial Planning, Insurance Planning, Income Taxation, Planning for Retirement Needs, Investments, Estate Planning, and Executive Compensation. Please refer to the following website for more information: http://www.theamericancollege.edu/.

² Chartered Life Underwriter (CLU) is a professional designation for individuals who wish to specialize in life insurance and estate planning. Individuals must complete five core courses and three elective courses, and successfully pass all eight two-hour, 100-question examinations in order to receive the designation. The required courses include: (1) Fundamentals of Insurance Planning, (2) Life Insurance Law, (3) Individual Life Insurance, (4) Estate Planning, and (5) Planning for Business Owners. The three elective courses can be chosen from such subjects as the following: (1) Financial Planning, (2) Health Insurance, (3) Income Taxation, (4) Group Benefits, (5) Retirement Planning, and (6) Investment Planning. Please refer to the following website for more information: http://www.theamericancollege.edu/.

Item 3 Disciplinary Information

Mr. Kairies does not have any disciplinary history to disclose.

Item 4 Other Business Activities

Stephen E. Kairies is separately licensed as an insurance agent and is contracted with Northwestern Mutual Life Insurance Company and other insurance companies. As an insurance agent, he is able to sell insurance and insurance-related investment products to clients, for which he will receive separate and additional compensation (e.g., commissions). AFS clients are not under any obligation to engage Mr. Kairies when considering implementation of investment and/or insurance recommendations. The implementation of any or all recommendations is solely at the discretion of the client.

Clients should be aware that the receipt of additional compensation by Mr. Kairies creates a conflict of interest and gives him an incentive to recommend insurance products based on the compensation received, rather than on a client's needs. AFS and Mr. Kairies endeavor at all times to put the interest of our clients first as part of AFS' fiduciary duty as a registered investment adviser and we take the following steps to address this conflict:

- AFS prohibits Mr. Kairies and its other employees from earning commissions for transactions placed in its portfolio management client accounts;
- AFS discloses to clients the existence of all material conflicts of interest, including the
 potential for its employees to earn compensation from advisory clients in addition to
 AFS' advisory fees;
- AFS discloses to clients that they are not obligated to purchase recommended investment products from AFS' employees;
- AFS collects, maintains and documents accurate, complete and relevant client background information, including the client's financial goals, objectives and risk tolerance;
- AFS' management conducts regular reviews of each client account to verify that all recommendations made to a client are suitable to the client's needs and circumstances;
- AFS requires that its employees seek prior approval of any outside employment activity so that AFS may ensure that any conflicts of interests in such activities are properly addressed;
- AFS periodically monitors these outside employment activities to verify that any conflicts of interest continue to be properly addressed by AFS; and
- AFS educates its employees regarding the responsibilities of a fiduciary, including the need for having a reasonable and independent basis for the investment advice provided to clients.

Item 5 Additional Compensation

As an insurance agent, Mr. Kairies is eligible to receive incentive awards (including prizes such as trips or bonuses) for recommending certain types of insurance policies or other investment products. While we endeavor at all times to put the interest of our clients first as part of our fiduciary duty, the possibility of receiving incentive awards creates a conflict of interest, and may affect the judgment of Mr. Kairies when making recommendations. We address this conflict by reviewing recommendations made to our clients to determine that all recommendations are consistent with the best interests of our clients. Please see the applicable disclosure in Item 4 of this Brochure Supplement for additional information about how we manage this conflict of interest.

Item 6 Supervision

Stephen E. Kairies, Founder, and Brant T. Kairies, President, Chief Investment Officer and Chief Compliance Officer, are responsible for the supervision, formulation and monitoring of investment advice offered to the firm's clients. Stephen E. Kairies and Brant T. Kairies review and oversee all material investment policy changes and conduct periodic testing to ensure that client objectives and mandates are being met. They can be contacted at (952) 885-2732.

Part 2B of Form ADV: Brochure Supplement

Brant T. Kairies

1650 West 82nd Street, Suite 850 Minneapolis, MN 55431 Telephone: (952) 885-2732

Email: brant@accessfinsvcs.com

ACCESS FINANCIAL SERVICES, INC. 1650 West 82nd Street, Suite 850 Minneapolis, MN 55431 Telephone: (952) 885-2732

February 18, 2025

This brochure supplement provides information about Brant T. Kairies that supplements the Access Financial Services, Inc. ("AFS") brochure. You should have received a copy of that brochure. Please contact Mr. Kairies if you did not receive AFS' brochure or if you have any questions about the contents of this supplement.

Additional information about Brant T. Kairies is available on the SEC's website at www.adviserinfo.sec.gov.

Item 2. Educational Background and Business Experience

YEAR OF BIRTH: 1971

EDUCATION: University of Minnesota, Carlson School of Management, 1993 to 1997

BUSINESS BACKGROUND:

- Access Financial Services, Inc., President, Chief Investment Officer and Chief Compliance Officer, 11/2010 to present; Vice President – Investments, 08/2001 to 11/2010; Investment Manager, 06/1994 to 08/2001
- FSC Securities Corporation, Registered Principal, 11/1997 to 02/2015

Item 3. Disciplinary Information

AFS is required to disclose any legal or disciplinary events that are material to a client's or prospective client's evaluation of Mr. Kairies. Mr. Kairies does not have any history of such disciplinary events.

Item 4. Other Business Activities

Brant T. Kairies is an insurance agent for various insurance companies. AFS clients under no obligation to engage Mr. Kairies when purchasing insurance products. The implementation of any or all recommendations is solely at the discretion of the client.

Clients should be aware that the receipt of additional compensation in the form of commissions from the sale of insurance products by Mr. Kairies creates a conflict of interest and gives him an incentive to recommend insurance products based on the compensation received. AFS and Mr. Kairies endeavor at all times to put the interest of our clients first as part of AFS' fiduciary duty as a registered investment adviser and we take the following steps to address this conflict:

- AFS prohibits Mr. Kairies and its other employees from earning commissions for transactions placed in its portfolio management client accounts;
- AFS prohibits Mr. Kairies and its other employees from earning 12b-1 distribution/service fees in connection with the placement of individual portfolio management client funds into investment companies;
- AFS discloses to clients the existence of all material conflicts of interest, including the potential for its employees to earn compensation from advisory clients in addition to AFS' advisory fees;
- AFS discloses to clients that they are not obligated to purchase recommended investment products from AFS' employees;
- AFS collects, maintains and documents accurate, complete and relevant client background information, including the client's financial goals, objectives and risk tolerance;

- AFS' management conducts regular reviews of each client account to verify that all recommendations made to a client are suitable to the client's needs and circumstances;
- AFS requires that its employees seek prior approval of any outside employment activity so that AFS may ensure that any conflicts of interests in such activities are properly addressed;
- AFS periodically monitors these outside employment activities to verify that any conflicts of interest continue to be properly addressed by AFS; and
- AFS educates its employees regarding the responsibilities of a fiduciary, including the need for having a reasonable and independent basis for the investment advice provided to clients.

Item 5. Additional Compensation

As an insurance agent, Mr. Kairies is eligible to receive incentive awards (including prizes such as trips or bonuses) for recommending certain types of insurance policies or other investment products. While we endeavor at all times to put the interest of our clients first as part of our fiduciary duty, the possibility of receiving incentive awards creates a conflict of interest, and may affect the judgment of Mr. Kairies when making recommendations. We address these conflicts by reviewing recommendations made to our clients to determine that all recommendations are consistent with the best interests of our clients. Please see the applicable disclosure at Item 4 of this Brochure Supplement for additional information about how we mange this conflict of interest.

Item 6. Supervision

Stephen E. Kairies, Founder and Chief Financial Officer, and Brant T. Kairies, President, Chief Investment Officer and Chief Compliance Officer, are responsible for the supervision, formulation and monitoring of investment advice offered to the firm's clients. Stephen E. Kairies and Brant T. Kairies review and oversee all material investment policy changes and conduct periodic testing to ensure that client objectives and mandates are being met. They can be contacted at (952) 885-2732.

Part 2B of Form ADV: Brochure Supplement

Kathryn L. Noel

1650 West 82nd Street, Suite 850 Minneapolis, MN 55431 Telephone: (952) 885-2719

Email: katie@accessfinsvcs.com

ACCESS FINANCIAL SERVICES, INC. 1650 West 82nd Street, Suite 850 Minneapolis, MN 55431 Telephone: (952) 885-2732

February 18, 2025

This brochure supplement provides information about Kathryn L. Noel that supplements the Access Financial Services, Inc. ("AFS") brochure. You should have received a copy of that brochure. Please contact Ms. Noel if you did not receive AFS' brochure or if you have any questions about the contents of this supplement.

Additional information about Kathryn L. Noel is available on the SEC's website at www.adviserinfo.sec.gov.

Item 2. Educational Background and Business Experience

YEAR OF BIRTH: 1980

EDUCATION: Hamline University, BA in Communications, 2002

BUSINESS EXPERIENCE:

- Access Financial Services, Inc.: Investment Adviser Representative, 3/2008 to present; Paraplanner/Administrative, 11/2002 to 3/2008

- Northwestern Mutual Life Insurance Company: Agent, 12/2007 to present
- FSC Securities Corporation: Registered Representative, 5/2007 to 2/2015
- Northwestern Mutual Investment Services, LLC: Registered Representative, 12/2007 to 2/2015

PROFESSIONAL DESIGNATIONS:

- Certified Financial Planner (CFP®), granted by the CFP Board of Standards,
 3/2009¹
- Chartered Life Underwriter (CLU®), issued by the American College, 2/2013²
- Chartered Financial Consultant® (ChFC®), issued by the American College, 9/2016³

¹The CERTIFIED FINANCIAL PLANNER™, CFP® and federally registered CFP (with flame design) marks (collectively, the "CFP® marks") are professional certification marks granted in the United States by the Certified Financial Planner Board of Standards, Inc. ("CFP Board").

The CFP® certification is a voluntary certification; no federal or state law or regulation requires financial planners to hold a CFP® certification. It is recognized in the United States and a number of other countries for its (1) high standard of professional education; (2) stringent code of conduct and standards of practice; and (3) ethical requirements that govern professional engagements with clients. Currently, more than 62,000 individuals have obtained CFP® certification in the United States. To attain the right to use the CFP® marks, an individual must satisfactorily fulfill the following requirements:

- Education Complete an advanced college-level course of study addressing the financial planning subject areas that CFP Board's studies have determined as necessary for the competent and professional delivery of financial planning services, and attain a Bachelor's Degree from a regionally accredited United States college or university (or its equivalent from a foreign university). CFP Board's financial planning subject areas include insurance planning and risk management, employee benefits planning, investment planning, income tax planning, retirement planning, and estate planning;
- Examination Pass the comprehensive CFP® Certification Examination. The examination, administered in 10 hours over a two-day period, includes case studies and client scenarios designed to test one's ability to correctly diagnose financial planning issues and apply one's knowledge of financial planning to real world circumstances;
- Experience Complete at least three years of full-time financial planning-related experience (or the equivalent, measured as 2,000 hours per year); and
- Ethics Agree to be bound by CFP Board's *Standards of Professional Conduct*, a set of documents outlining the ethical and practice standards for CFP® professionals.

Individuals who become certified must complete the following ongoing education and ethics requirements in order to maintain the right to continue to use the CFP® marks:

- Continuing Education – Complete 30 hours of continuing education hours every two years, including two hours on the *Code of Ethics* and other parts of the *Standards of Professional Conduct*, to maintain competence and keep up with developments in the financial planning field; and

Item 3. Disciplinary Information

AFS is required to disclose any legal or disciplinary events that are material to a client's or prospective client's evaluation of Ms. Noel. Ms. Noel does not have any history of such disciplinary events.

Item 4. Other Business Activities

Kathryn L. Noel is separately licensed as an insurance agent for Northwestern Mutual Life Insurance Company and various other insurance companies. AFS clients are under no obligation to engage Ms. Noel when purchasing insurance products. The implementation of any or all recommendations is solely at the discretion of the client.

Clients should be aware that the receipt of additional compensation in the form of commissions from the sale of insurance products by Ms. Noel creates a conflict of interest and gives her an incentive to recommend insurance products based on the compensation received. AFS and Ms. Noel endeavor at all times to put the interest of our clients first as part of AFS' fiduciary duty as a registered investment adviser and we take the following steps to address this conflict:

CFP® professionals who fail to comply with the above standards and requirements may be subject to CFP Board's enforcement process, which could result in suspension or permanent revocation of their CFP® certification. Please refer to the following website for more information: http://www.cfp.net/.

² Chartered Life Underwriter is a designation granted by the American College. CLU [®] designation requirements:
☐ Successfully complete CLU® coursework: five required and three elective courses.
☐ Meet the experience requirements: Three years of business experience immediately preceding the date of the use of the designation are required. An undergraduate or graduate degree from an accredited education institution qualifies as one year of business experience.
☐ Take the Professional Ethics Pledge.
☐ When you achieve the CLU® designation, you must complete 30 hours of continuing education credit every two years.
³ Chartered Financial Consultant (ChFC®) is a designation issued by the American College. ChFC® designation requirements:
☐ Complete ChFC® coursework within five years from the date of initial enrollment.
☐ Pass the exams for all required elective courses. A minimum score of 70% must be achieved to pass.
☐ Meet the experience requirements: Three years of full-time business experience within the five years preceding the date of the award. An undergraduate or graduate degree from an accredited educational institution qualifies as one year of business experience.
☐ Take the Professional Ethics Pledge.

When you achieve your CHFC® designation, you must earn 30 hours of continuing education credit every two years.

⁻ Ethics – Renew an agreement to be bound by the *Standards of Professional Conduct*. The Standards prominently require that CFP® professionals provide financial planning services at a fiduciary standard of care. This means CFP® professionals must provide financial planning services in the best interests of their clients.

- AFS prohibits Ms. Noel and its other employees from earning commissions for transactions placed in its portfolio management client accounts;
- AFS prohibits Ms. Noel and its other employees from earning 12b-1 distribution/service fees in connection with the placement of portfolio management client funds into investment companies;
- AFS discloses to clients the existence of all material conflicts of interest, including the potential for its employees to earn compensation from advisory clients in addition to AFS' advisory fees;
- AFS discloses to clients that they are not obligated to purchase recommended investment products from AFS' employees;
- AFS collects, maintains and documents accurate, complete and relevant client background information, including the client's financial goals, objectives and risk tolerance;
- AFS' management conducts regular reviews of each client account to verify that all recommendations made to a client are suitable to the client's needs and circumstances;
- AFS requires that its employees seek prior approval of any outside employment activity so that AFS may ensure that any conflicts of interests in such activities are properly addressed;
- AFS periodically monitors these outside employment activities to verify that any conflicts of interest continue to be properly addressed by AFS; and
- AFS educates its employees regarding the responsibilities of a fiduciary, including the need for having a reasonable and independent basis for the investment advice provided to clients.

Item 5. Additional Compensation

As an insurance agent, Ms. Noel is eligible to receive incentive awards (including prizes such as trips or bonuses) for recommending certain types of insurance policies or other investment products. While we endeavor at all times to put the interest of our clients first as part of our fiduciary duty, the possibility of receiving incentive awards creates a conflict of interest, and may affect the judgment of Ms. Noel when making recommendations. We address this conflict by reviewing recommendations made to our clients to determine that all recommendations are consistent with the best interests of our clients. Please see the applicable disclosure in Item 4 of this Brochure Supplement for additional information about how we mange this conflict of interest.

Item 6. Supervision

Stephen E. Kairies, Founder and Chief Financial Officer, and Brant T. Kairies, President, Chief Investment Officer and Chief Compliance Officer, are responsible for the supervision, formulation and monitoring of investment advice offered to the firm's clients. Stephen E. Kairies and Brant T. Kairies review and oversee all material investment policy changes and conduct periodic testing to ensure that client objectives and mandates are being met. They can be contacted at (952) 885-2732.

Brochure Supplement

Part 2B of Form ADV

Matthew Rich, CFP®, J.D.

ACCESS FINANCIAL SERVICES, INC.

1650 West 82nd Street, Suite 850 Minneapolis, MN 55431-1460 Firm Telephone: (952) 885-2736

Direct Telephone: (952) 885-2734 EMAIL: matthew@accessafs.com

This brochure supplement provides information about Matthew Rich that supplements the Access Financial Services, Inc. ("AFS") brochure. You should have received a copy of that brochure. Please contact Mr. Rich if you did not receive AFS' brochure or if you have any questions about the contents of this supplement.

Additional information about Matthew Rich is available on the SEC's website at www.adviserinfo.sec.gov.

September 23, 2025

Access Financial Services, Inc.

Brochure Supplement (Part 2B of Form ADV)

Item 2 Education and Business Standards

Matthew Rich, CFP®, J.D.

Educational Background:

- Year of birth: 1982
- William Mitchell College of Law, Juris Doctor in Law, 2008
- Gustavus Adolphus College, Bachelor of Arts Degree in Political Science & Communications, 2005

Business Experience:

- Access Financial Services, Inc.; Investment Advisor Representative; 09/2025 to Present
- Accredited Investors; Lead Wealth Manager; 06/2021 to 07/2025
- Carlson Capital Management, LLC; Integrated Wealth Advisor; 01/2016 to 07/2021
- Carlson Capital Management, Inc.; Integrated Wealth Advisor; 04/2014 to 12/2015
- Grundhoefer & Ludescher, PA; Attorney; 09/2008 to 04/2014

Professional Designations:

• Certified Financial Planner (CFP®), granted by The Certified Financial Planner Board of Standards, Inc.

Professional Certifications

Matthew Rich has earned certifications and credentials that are required to be explained in further detail.

CERTIFIED FINANCIAL PLANNERTM (CFP®)

I am certified for financial planning services in the United States by Certified Financial Planner Board of Standards, Inc. ("CFP Board"). Therefore, I may refer to myself as a CERTIFIED FINANCIAL PLANNER™ professional or a CFP® professional, and I may use these and CFP Board's other certification marks (the "CFP Board Certification Marks"). CFP® certification is voluntary. No federal or state law or regulation requires financial planners to hold CFP® certification. You may find more information about CFP® certification at www.cfp.net.

CFP® professionals have met CFP Board's high standards for education, examination, experience, and ethics. To become a CFP® professional, an individual must fulfill the following requirements:

• Education – Earn a bachelor's degree or higher from an accredited college or university and complete CFP Board-approved coursework at a college or university through a CFP Board Registered Program. The coursework covers the financial planning subject areas

CFP Board has determined are necessary for the competent and professional delivery of financial planning services, as well as a comprehensive financial plan development capstone course. A candidate may satisfy some of the coursework requirement through other qualifying credentials.

- Examination Pass the comprehensive CFP® Certification Examination. The examination is designed to assess an individual's ability to integrate and apply a broad base of financial planning knowledge in the context of real-life financial planning situations.
- **Experience** Complete 6,000 hours of professional experience related to the personal financial planning process, or 4,000 hours of apprenticeship experience that meets additional requirements.
- Ethics Satisfy the Fitness Standards for Candidates for CFP® Certification and Former CFP® Professionals Seeking Reinstatement and agree to be bound by CFP Board's Code of Ethics and Standards of Conduct ("Code and Standards"), which sets forth the ethical and practice standards for CFP® professionals.

Individuals who become certified must complete the following ongoing education and ethics requirements to remain certified and maintain the right to continue to use the CFP Board Certification Marks:

- Ethics Commit to complying with CFP Board's *Code and Standards*. This includes a commitment to CFP Board, as part of the certification, to act as a fiduciary, and therefore, act in the best interests of the client, at all times when providing financial advice and financial planning. CFP Board may sanction a CFP® professional who does not abide by this commitment, but CFP Board does not guarantee a CFP® professional's services. A client who seeks a similar commitment should obtain a written engagement that includes a fiduciary obligation to the client.
- Continuing Education Complete 30 hours of continuing education hours every two years to maintain competence, demonstrate specified levels of knowledge, skills, and abilities, and keep up with developments in financial planning. Two of the hours must address the *Code and Standards*.

Item 3 Disciplinary Information

Mr. Rich does not have any disciplinary history to disclose.

Item 4 Other Business Activities

None to report.

Item 5 Additional Compensation

None to report.

Item 6 Supervision

Stephen E. Kairies, Founder, and Brant T. Kairies, President, Chief Investment Officer and Chief Compliance Officer, are responsible for the supervision, formulation and monitoring of investment advice offered to the firm's clients. Stephen E. Kairies and Brant T. Kairies review and oversee all material investment policy changes and conduct periodic testing to ensure that client objectives and mandates are being met. They can be contacted at (952) 885-2732.